YOUNGSTOWN STATE UNIVERSITY

ORAI, HISTORY PROCRAM

History of Mecca, Ohio

¢

Life Experience

0.H. 206

JACK W, SWITZER
Interviewed
by
Beth Hanuschak
on

May 9, 1979



JACK W, SWITZER

Jack Switzer, born Jure 19, 31931, is the son of
Clinten and Cora Switzer, His parents moved to Mecca
in 1931 to begin farming and become active members of
the Mecca Church.

Mr., Switzer is married to the former Marie Adams and
is the father of Jack Switzer, Jr., Vickie and Tina.
Today, Mr., Switzer's life in Mecca revolves around
Packard Electric, farming and being an Elder of %the
Mecca Church,

Reflecting back on his life, Mr, Switzer graduated
from Mecca Centralized School., While in school, his class
developed the first yearbook and the schcol's nickname
of "Rockets." His graduation class of 1949 had nine
members-~-all of which he can account for today. 1In
August of 1949, he enlisted in the Marine Corps serving
in Korea. After being discharged in 1952, he returned
to Mecca to go into the dairy business with his father.
In 1954, he gave up the business and bepan to work for
Van Huffel of Warren until 1968. He changed jobs and is
then employed by Ajax Magnethermic, where he worked until
1971, Once more he decided to change jobs and is now
employed by Packard Electric.

Mr. Switzer's hobbies include sports, flying, and

reading,

Beth Hanuschak
May 9, 1979
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History of Mecca, Ohio

INTERVIEWEE: JACK W. SWITZER

INTERVIEWER: Beth Hanuschak

SUBJECT: Mecca Centralized School; desgcription of
the school; description of the town; The
Township's Justice of the Peace and (on-
stable; Mecca Churchy; Mecca Fire Depart-
ment

Date: May 9, 1979

H: This 1is Beth Hanuschak with Mr. Jack Switzer dealing
with the History of Mecca, May 9, 1979 at 6:05 p.m.

Mr. Switzer, looking over the information that I have,
T see that around 1914 there was a Jack Switzer here
in Mecca., Who is that person?

S: I don't know.

H: 1Is he any relation fo you whatsoever?

3: Noct that I know of, no.

H: There wag a Bula Swiltzer. She was a teacher at
Mecca at one time,

3: Possibly, she could have been related, Was she from
Youngstown?

H: T don't have any information on that,
S: It's very pessible, but I'm not sure of it.
H+ Golng through the sources that T used, I came upon a

Clinton Switzer, who was a resident here in 1936, Now,
is that any relation to you?
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S: Yes, that's my father.

H: That's your father? He moved here to Mecca in 19369
3: No, he moved here in about 1931,

H: Yes, and your mother's name was Cora?

S: Right.

H: She was born in 18939

S:  Right,

H: TIs that right? Where was she born?

St Indiana,

H- There are two children: Dick and obviously, you,
S: No, I have two sisters also, Dorothy and Elva.

H: Let's look at your parents. Why did they come here

to Mecca? What made them come to this community? Your

dad is not from here?

[#2]

No, he was oripinaliy, also, from Tndiana,

H: Why did they come here to Mecca, Ohio?

S: Well, that's a long story.

H: Go right ahead. You've got all kind of time.

S: Hirst, we came from Indiana to CGustavus Township. My

father had a blacksmith shop that he traded for a farm

in Gustavus, a dairy farm. And then he ran into some
broblems with his cattle and lost most of them at a

TB test and then, when the Depression hit, more or less,

he had to give up that place and really, this was the
only place that he could find and he came to Mecca.

That's really how we ended up here. Really, you might

say, 1t was a forced move,

H: What did he do upon arriving here in Mecca?

St He bought & small farm and then he worked for Republic

Steel most of the time he was here,
H: Where wag the farm located?

S:  The farm was in West Mecca, North Park Avenue.
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H: TIs it still there today?

St Yes, it's s8till there. All of the oripginal buildings
are all gone now, but the place is still there.

H: Wasg he happy with the move?

S: I don't think so really. T don't really know for
sure, but I don't think. From what T--of course, I
was so young--from what I pathered, it was more or
less a forced move, something that had to be done,

H: Right. Did he continue farming then? Was he still
in the dairy business?

5:  Yes, he built it up again. He didn't, for gquite a
wh 1e, but he continued to build up to when he did
retire from the shop he was dairy farming.

H+ In the history of the Methodist Church, he served
on the building committee there. Was he actively
involved then? T8 that the same person?

S: Yes, that's the same person. He was always active at
the church in West Wecca,

H: What did he do? The book that T used savs he was on
a building committee. What exactly did he do?

S: Well, the building committee was probably when they
put the basement under the church. He would have
helped then on that. He served on the board and was
superintendent of Sunday Schcol and things like that.

H:; Was your mother involved?

S: Yes, she was also involved,

H: T see. Looking at other Switzers, there's a Charles
and Certha Switzer. Is that any relation to you?

S+ Not to my knowledge,

H: They had children: @Grace, Lawrence, Charles, and
Elizabeth. T was just curious whether that was anvy
relation tc you.

S: Where was this at? In Mecca®?

H+ Right in Mecca.

S: Not to my knewledge, no. °-
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H:

You're the only Switzers then that are descendants
of Clinton and Cora?

Right .

You were born in 1931, You grew up during the Depres-
sion. What can you remember about your parents during
that time? Xnowing that your father had to make that
move, what can you remember about the guy? Wss it
hard? Did you have to do a lot of work for him? Just
tell me about your father and your mother.

Well, no, I didn't really have to, as I'd say, work
hard, because T was really young, but, let's see, I
have to go back and think now. Our place, where our
farm was, why, was kind of a meeting place for the
whole little area right there, the crossroads and we
had a piano, I remember. That was one of the reasons
everybody met there, because we had the piano.

I remember things were rough. I can remember Dad
getting up like and going to look for work and getting
work for a day at a time or something. His biggest
thing was always, he liked to buy calves. He would
always try to buy a calf somewhere, to raise, That
was always a big thing, when the calf got sold, why,
that meant we had ice cream that day. (Laughter) T
can remember that,

My father was never on any sort of relief or anything,
He never had to do that. I can remember one time he
was upset. He applied Tor some kind of funding or
something. I really don't know exactly, but for

some money of some kind, something, but he was turned
down because he had a team of horses.

Is that right?

And they told him he could use them, which he did have,
but I remember he was pretty upset because just be-
cause he happened to have a team of horses, why, he
wasn't eligible. And at that time, with these horses,
then he helped--they had a project for cleaning our
Mogguitoc Creek--and he used the team. T remember doing
that, c¢cleaning out the Creek,.

Why did he have to clean out the Creek?

It was a project for the whole, well, T guess--Trum-
bull County. It wasn't WPA, but it was another pro-
Ject they used to clean out the Creek. It was just
to put men tc work. That's what it amounted to.
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H: Men got paid for that?

S: Yes.

H: Do you remember how much he earned?

S: No, T have no idea. I have no idea what he earned,

H: That's interesting.

S:  But they had the project ahd they had a certain sec-
tion that they each cleaned out, pulling trees out and
all these things.

H: What was your mother like?

S:  Oh, very small lady. Everyone remembers her, she was
very thin, always Jjoyful. I can't ever remember her
getting up and not singing sometime during the day.
You always saw the two of them together. You very
seldom saw one that you didn't see the other one. T
had different people tell me later on that that was
one thing they always remembered--if they seen one,
they seen the other one. She was spunky T puess you
might say. (Laughter)

They also were very keen on--this mipght fit in with
nowadays when you hear so much about our youth being
80 ornery and everything--they both always felt honest
about that as far as their life went. My dad especial-
ly, when I heard him talk about that. He would s5ay,
"Yes, we didn't have this to do or that to do. We
didn't get into trouble) and he always heard the good
things., He would always say,” e did go to church on
sunday, twlce every Sunday." But he said, "The part
you don't hear is that we met down at the Creek to
have our fights before we went to church." (Laughter)

H: That's cute,

S: Both of them were always very honest about that. I
eit they were. They used %o tell about racing with
thelr horses and coming home from the fair and things
like this and how they would race them. How he used
fo steal his father's horse--not steal-~take his
father's horse out of the barn to date my mother. He
used it to go see my mother, I don't know whether you
know anything about horses, but they will go certain
places and instinctively learn it. And this one time,
why--1t would have been my grandfather—-had hig horse
going by my mother's place and it just whipved in
there. (Laughter) So, that's how he got caught.
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H:

He got caught. Were they religious? Did they make
you, in fact, go to church twice on Sundays?

Never madé us, I wouldn't say they made us. They
were, I guess you would say--religious, for lack of
a better term., They always seemed to make it that
you wanted fo go. They never said, "You must." But
they always encouraged, but never really pushed at
ali. We just grew up with the idea that you did it,
that's all. Tt was real good.

Are you the oldest of all the children or the youngest?
No, I'm the baby,
All your brothers and sisters were born here?

No, my two sisters were born in Tndiana and my brother
was born in CGustavus. My one sister lives iniCustavus
now. My brother lives in Kinsman and the other gister
is deceased. I'm the baby.

That's interesting. Bron in 1931, you started school
roughly arcund 1936, 1937, right?

Right,

Where did you start school in Mecca? What was the
name of the school and where was it located?

It was Mecca Centralized School. It was right in
almost, you might say, the center of the township,
Route 88, right about where the lake is right now ,
right in the middle of the water.

I'd like to get a description of what that school
looked like., Tell me, when you walked in that build--
ing, what did you see? It was a2ll grades in one build-
ing, correct? One through twelve was housed in one
building?

Yes, right,

Tell me what school looked like in your mind., What
can you remember? Did they have pictures of (eorge
Washington on the wall, Abe Lincoln on the wall? TFor
many, many years, that's the way schools were set up.
What can you remember about that school?

Well, T think the first thing I can remember, as
you walked 1in the Tront was the fire bell. The fire
bell there, I can remember that distinctively and of
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course, the offices, or the office for the school
was right as you entered it. T could almost go
right through the whole building. (Laughter)

H: Go right ahead. That's what I want. (o right ahead.

51 The office, i1t was on your right as you entered—-
I'm entering the front of the building--and then they
had a small library right on the left and then behind
the library was a big, well, then it was a big study
hall, we called 1t. Tt was a study hall. & flag in
the room was a thing. There was alwavs a flapg at
the front of the room. As far as pictures, T don't
remember plctures. Then you'd go directly on into the
gymnasium., All the classrooms were built on the out-
side of the gymnasium. Tt was probably one of the
safest schools that was ever built, because there was
two exits out of every room, FEvery room in the build-
ing could go outside from the room. There was no roon
in 1t that you couldn't go to the outside from that
room or you could go into the gymnasium, either way.
At the end of the gymnasium then was a stapge. And
the property, of course, was low and it was always a
thing when it rained in the spring and everything, we
looked forward to getting a few davs off from school
because the basement would always flood. I can re-
member the basement being almost flooded up to the
floor level, That was always something we always
looked forward to.

H: T'11 have %o try that. (Laughter)

St Yes., Outside of that, I don't know of anything. We
had a home economics room., There was a manual training
room,

H: What is a manual training room?

S:  They taught wood working at the time, and that was the
main thing, woodworking in the manual training room.
When you got to the ninth grade, you got to change
rooms for your classges. There were bleachers on each
side of the gymnasium,

H: Did they have a cafeteria?

5: No.

H: Where did you eat your lunch?

St You carried your lunch. They had a home economics

rcom. I remember, 1t was in kind of like with your
lab, Then later on, we did have hot dogs one time: a
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week. Ladies would come in and cook hot dogs and
we'd have hot dogs and chocolate milk once a week,
otherwise, we always carried our lunch.

H: Who was vour first grade teacher?
S: A lady by the name of Miss Cates.
H: How many were in your class?

2: Oh my, I don't know what we did start with really,
There were probably about fourteen, fifteen maybe., I
really don't know.

H: How many did you end up with?
S: I graduated with nine in our elass. That was in 1949,

H+ Are there any outstanding features about you in school?
Were you a big kid? Did vou get into trouble?

S+ I can only remember in lower grades one teacher tel~
ling my mother, "Jack is a2 real nice kid and every-
thing, but he likes to fight." I don't know if T was
a bad kid, but I was rough, I guess.

H: Who did you fight?
3: Anybody that was available. (Laughter)
H: Can you give me any names? Do vou remember?

S: Used %o have a neighbor boy, Eugene Dean and we used
to wrestle around quite often. Ripght now I can't think
of any in the lower grades. There was a kid, Robertson,
was his name, but I don't know whatever happened to him.
They moved out a long time ago,

H: Did your mother reprimand you then, upon finding out
that you used to fight?

S: Oh, she would tell me about it., They had a way of
discipline, T don't know hardly how to explain it.
They really didn't have to. If they said something,

I just knew that's what it was and took their word for
it and that's the way it was. Never had too much pro-
blem along that line.

H: Going through high school, were you involved in any
extra-curricular activities?

S: Yes, T was always in with the band the baseball and
basketball and whatever we happened to have, you might
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say.

H: What kind of baskethall team did they have? Who did
you play with? Who was on the team?

St Well, at that time, our team, let's see, there was
Bud King, Jim Xennel, Larry Workman, Dennis Stantial,
Robert Cator., That's about the ones T can think of
right now.

H+ What were some of the schools? Who did you play?

S: Bloomfield, Bristol, once in a while we'd play Cort-
land, Greene, Johnson, Kinsman, Vernon, all small
schools same as we were. Really, our basketball team
at this time it was about that time when "Rockets",
the name, came out,

H: Oh, tell me about that. How did that come about?

S: Well, our class, in 1949, we made one of the first--
well, T guess you call them yearbocks, Now, do they
call them yearbooks?

H: Yes.

5: We made one of the first ones and it was called "The
Rockette" when it started out. At this time, my old-
est sister, the one that's deceased--Dorothy Switzer-
Holko was her name--gshe was teaching here at that time
and we were lookling for a name and this is one of the
hames she happened to come up wlth was "Rockets", Tt
was really right at the time when everybody was look-
ing into the future--~rockets was poing to be something
and that's where they came up with the name Rockets.

H: TI've never heard that before.

S: That was 1948, I guess, we came up with it.
H: Did you date while in high school?

s Very, very little,

H: Did anybody date or not?

3: Not as, T guess you would say they do now. They didn't,
not as much.

H: When you left school at the end of the day, did you have
to work at home?
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S

Yes. Well, at that time when T was in high school--
just what we were talking about--I did, Actually, it
was during the Second World War at that time. The

day my brother was drafted, my mother went to work in

a factory. She said, "If he can go, I can go." So,
she started to work in a factory in Warren at that
time. My father was working at Republic Steel, so that
left me to do the farm work, which T liked.

Did you?

So, that's where that was at and chores to deo and it
was kind of rough sometimes when we had basketball
games and baseball games. That was worth the time
because we didn't have practice like they do now.

Is that right?

No, we had a--they called it an ECA period, extra time,
a half hour more at lunch time. That was our basket-
ball practice time.

Is that right?

That was 1t. (Laughter)

That would be nice to do that today.

We didn't have any of that after schecol or nothing
like that. We didn't have that time.

When did you play your games?

At night.

At night?

And they usally always started at eight o'clock.

One game? I mean, today we have Jjunior varsity and
varsity.

No, they usually had two games.
Is that right?

Yes, and then they called them first and second teams,
but it was the same thing.

You went torhigh school during World War IT and you
Just said ycur brother fought. How did Mecca view
World War II2 Now, you had someone that was there.
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How did Mecca feel about that war? Was there a feel-
ing of excitement? Did people really get in that war
effort? In your family they must have, because your
mother--~-"He can go, IT'm going."

S+ Right. I think, from what I can remember, everybody
was involved with it. T know, of course, like my
family and my brother-in-law, he wasn't in, but he
had brothers in and we always kept a map of where his
brothers were and where my brother was, with the pins
on 1t. Kept very close track. Out there, I can
remember Pearl Harbor Day very well because we had
Just gotten electricity at that time. Our place, we
didn't have electricity at the time. We had just
gotten electricity and we had a radio. T can remenm-
ber listening to the radio and hearing that when that
happened.

H: What was your first reaction? Kill?

S5: No. T started looking out the window. {(Laughter)
FPirst reaction, I was kind of wondering, not really
knowing exactly where Hawaii might be, really., I
was Just kind of wondering.

H: Had you talked about it a lot in school? Did the
teachers bring it up, the war?

5: Oh yes. We had these stamps, well, they called them
war bonds then, the savings bonds?

H: Yes.

S:  But you could buy stamps also and we always had a
contest of some kind going on buying stamps. They
were ten cents apeice or twenty-five cents apiece.

We always had that pgoing., And then, I can remember
one year we had a thing going at collectine #ilkweed
pods. They're used in 1ife preservers, We were pro-
vided with, like, onion sacks and we went out. We
always had a contesgt of some kind going on. We had
sides that are different., I guess we were sides, con-
tests. We were called Junior Commandos and see who
could get the most bags and thines like that. On
weekends we'd go out and fill these up and then they'd
be a1l brought into the school.

I would say, as far as Mecca goes, 1t was really

patriotic. Of course, with Warren being close, the
manufacturing and everything. Tanks were made right
here in Warren. There was a lot of people that were
working in the factories and running their farms at
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the same time. A iot of people did this at that time.

H: When you graduated, did you graduate from the school
where it is right now?

S:  Yes.

H: Did you like that change where they moved it? Were
you in favor of that? T guess maybe what I'm trying
to pget at and this all ties in together--were you
happy to see the reservoir ccome, destroy that school?
They tore it down and built this school. W®irst of

all, were you happy with seeing the reservoir being
built?

3+ No, not really. I was sad about it.
H: Why?

S: Probably the best farm land that was in Mecca was
there and it was hard for me to understand why they
had to build it. But anyhow, the families had to be
moved out that llved there for years and that kind of
thing, but then, T can see now where 1t was a good
thing. TIt's been a good thing, I think. Of course,
younger, I was glad to see the school go, We went
to Cortland school. The west side of the lake went
to Cortland and East Mecca went to Johnson School,

H: Cortland in Cortland, Chio?
S3: Yes.
H: Where was that school located?

S5: Where their elementary school is. O0Of course, they
had all twelve grades there then foc. And we rode
bug clear down around to 305 and up around that way
back up to the school. We did that for, well, see,

I was there for the last half of the seventh grade and
the first part of the eighth grade and then we came
back here., That was in elghth grade and I graduated
in where the building is now., VYes, I was glad to

see the building come here, I mean, to get the build-
ing because at one time they thought we wouldn't even
have a school,

H: Oh really?
St But, at that time, T kind of knew what was happening

because my father was on the school board, And T
can remember different men coming to the house because
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then you didn't have all the motels and so forth like
now and they'd come in there. I don't know really
what, they were, construction men or architecture or
whatever, talking with him about this building and

sc forth. And it was quite a hassle whether the
building would be bullt on this side of the lake or
on the other side of the lake.

How did they solve that? How did they decide?

Well, T always heard there was three board members
from East Mecca and there was two from West Mecca,
so, that's how 1t was decided. I understand that
there was a person in West Mecea that offered to
donate the land if 1t would be built over there
but instead they decided to buy land over here:and
build it on this side.

Do you know how much they paid for that land?

I have no idea. I don't remember at all what they
paid for it,

How many years did your father serve on the school
board?

T would say probably--they serve what, four terms?
He probably served twe terms I think. I'm not
really sure.

Can you remember anything at all about him serving
on the school board? Were you in school the time that
he was on the board then?

Yes. He went off before I graduated. I think it

was his last year when they finished the school up.

I can remember when he got on the scheool board. It
was more of a write-in thing. He got elected., That
was how 1t happened. T was falrly small at the time.
I can't remember all the detalls. I csn just remember
my brother coming home arld saying that he was elected
on the school board. It secems to me like he used to
get s8ix dollars for serving.

You've glven me a physical desgcription of the first
school that you attended. What did Mecca, where
you graduated from--Maplewood . . . Was it called
Maplewood?

No, 1t was called Mecca,

How did the change come about? Do you know? How
did they get Maplewood out of Mecca?
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S: Well, when we consolidated--Johnson, Greene, and
Mecca consolidated---and then if I recall right, they
ran, not a contest, but they asked for people to
send in names and names were sent in and Maplewood
was chosen.

H: I see,

S: I don't know who presented it or whatever, but
that's how it came about.

H: Well then, what did Mecca look like to you, that
school of Mecca? Give me another description of that
school., What can you remember about going there.

S: Well, we had one of the hardest gym floors in the
county. (Laughter) Where the cafeteria is now was
the gym Tloor and it was a concrete with a tile
covering, on it, When we built it, building materials
were very limited--belng able to get material., And
as 1t was built we had--just something that crossed
mny mind about the old one, thinking about that--we
were about the only township, the Mecca School, that
had outdoor tcilets at the time. (Laughter) Every-
body used to hate to come and play basketball then
because they had to change out in the toilets and it
was outside, but that was in the old school, That's
not the one we're talking of now.

But anyway, the new cne wag built similar in size

but our gymnasium was on the back of the building
with the classrooms in the front with a hall, I
fhink that when they built it they had built it with
the intention of someday i1t would be added on to., I
don't think they put the building up and said, "This
is going to be it.” I think they had seen that there
was going to be more. But as I recall them talking
and so frth, it was kind of nip and tuck for awhile
whether we'd have the school or not. They just wanted
to do away with Mecca having a school and then it
ended up that this is the one they consolidated

where the high school ended up so T think there was
some foresight there somewhere aleng the line.

H: I'm sure there was. When you graduated in 1949, what
were you going to do with yourself? Did vou go on
to college, the service? What did you do?

S: My ambition, of course, always was to farm, but I had
it all figured out, T enlisted in the Marine Corps in
August. I graduated in May and T enlisted 1n the
Marine Corps in August and I had it all figured out,
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I would serve my three years and then I would be eli-
gible for a GI loan, which at that time was $15,000
maximum that you could get. But at that time you
could probably get close to buying a farm and equip
it for that kind of money. That's what my intentions
were. Then the three years that I was in there,
things all changed money-wise and everything. It

was almost impossible,

H: Well, how did things change? What had happened?
S: I guess it was the inflation same as it is now.
H: Is that right?

S5: It just seemed like everything kept pgetting higher
and higher, It was just impossible to make a move
like that at that time and it doesn't seem possible
that in three or four years that it could change that
much, but it really did. Like when I went in, I mean,
lots were selling for like $50 and $60 you could buy
a lot. Buft of course, then it was $500 and $600
when I came out, which was a lot of money, which now
today it's $5000 and $6000, so

H: Were you overseasgs?

S+ Yes, I was in Korea.

H: You fought ripht in Korea then?
S: Yes, I was in Korea.

H: This is probably to get away from our subject for a
second, but any reflections on Korea? Were you right
there?

S: I was right out by the 38th Parallel when T was there
and it was more of a game of cops and robbers in my
estimation. T went over in 1951 T think, in 1951.

And this is after the push had been made back up., 7T
was over there actuslly when the worst of 1t was over,
They were set up cn the 38th and they were back and
forth talking all the time, but I spent most of the
time on what they called outpost duty.

H: And that was?

S5:  That was, like we'd have an area would be set up,
headquarters area would be set up and then there would
be puards, outposts out beyond that, It was our duty

just to keep watch that nobody came through and stuff
iike that.
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H:

[95]

What was your final rank in the Marine Corps?
Corporal.

Corporal?

And of course, when I was there why, Uncle Sam decided
he needed me longer than three years, (Laughter) So,
I was extended. My wife and I, we planned on retting
married earlier and then that changed. I was to get
out in August, but T didn't get out until in December.
Of what year?

1952.

1952, I see. After that, in 1952 then, you were
finished, did you come back to Mecca?

Yes, yes, I came back to Mecca.
What made you come back here?

That's a good question. (Laughter) I don't know. Well,
one reason, I wanted to get married.

Your wife is from here?

Right. There used to be kind of thing going between
East and West Mecca all the time and .

I was going to ask you about that. (Laughter)

Oh, you were?

Yes, T was. (Laughter) T hear a lot about that.

I guess we were like the Indians or something, we made
the peace there. Marie was from Fast Mecca and T was
from West Mecca and that kind of broke that guarrel.
Well, you knew your wife before going over there?

Yes.

Had you gone to school with her?

Yes.

What 1s her maiden name?

Marie Adams.
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She had originally been from Mecca?

No, she moved out here from Warren when she was in,
I think, the seventh grade.

Is she younger than you?

Yes.

S50, you knew her then a1l the time you were over in
Korea and had all intentions of getting married and
that's one reason, then, why you moved back here?

Yes, we thought this was where we wanted to stay.
And obviously it is, right? {(Laughter)
That's where we'lre at.

You Jjust talked a little bit about this and I knew
there's so much animogity between Fast and West Mecca.
What is your version of why all that got started? Wh
What had happened to bring all that about? Was 1t
because of the Creek?

The Creck seemed fto be the boundary line. T don't
realiy know when it did start, but T know it took a
long time before it got cooled down, I mean, even up
untll the new school was built on this side people
were gtili--1like T said, there were three board mem-
bers from the FKast and there was two from the West.
(Laughter) And even yet, today you run into people
that still bring this out.

is that right?

You live in one, you're a little different than the
other one, O0Of course, see, now T moved from the West
Side to the East side. (Laughter )

That's cute. When were you married then, what year?
1952, December 1952,
What did you do then for a living after the service?

When I first got out we went into a partnership with
my father on the farm, Then that worked ocut to where
there really wasn't enough 1ncome for two families so
I went to work in Warren for Van Huffel Tube and T
worked there for quite some time £il1l T figured that
I could get cut. TI'm still working at the shop yet,
but
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At Van Huffel?

No, 1 worked at Van Huffel eclose to twelve or thirteen
vears. Then I went to work with Sears for awhile and
then I went with Ajax.

Magnethermic?

Yes, magnethermic and U.S. Gypsum and now I'm st
Packard Electric.

What do you do at Packard?

I work on the assembly line in there.

Do you farm?

Yes, I still keep my hand in the dirt.

How many acres? Or dairy?

I bought thirty acres here and then we sold some off.
We Just have the ninteen acres ripght now. But we
raised some beef and some pigs and all that and have

horses.

What do you think the average cost of an acre is
today, roughliy? I'm just curious.

$2000.

Is that high, low, about average?

That's market price I would say. Our church just

bought some property and that's what we had to pay for
it. T would say that would be probably a good figure.

Did your wife and you ever think about 1eav1np here,
going someplace else?

Oh, we've talked about 1t different times, but T

guess we're st11l sticking around. Well, our children,
we had three children, two of them graduated from
Maplewoecd,

Thelr names are?
Jack and Vickie, Of course, we still have Tina at
home and we fipgure we want to stay here till she

finishes school here. After that I don't really know.

Do you think you might leave?
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Possibility.

Thatfs very interesting. Sometimes when you g£o
through small towns they have one street where everv-
thing is--the drugstore, the hardware shop. Do we
have that here? Is that here at all?

I would say probably that Route 88 would be the only
thing. In West Mecca, there was the church and at
one time there was a town hall building over there
also. TEach side of the lake had their own town hall.
At one time over there, there was two stores in West
Mecca and a parage which now there isn't at all on
that side of the lake. The Cirecle, Mecca Circle was
always down here and then there was always the stores
around here and so forth. That would probably be the
local meeting points.

Years ago, there used t£o be, on each side of the
lake, men had horseshoe courts set up. They would go
down and play horseshoes at night. There was nothing
else to do. That was the entertainment I guess you
would say.

Continuing with everything that we've heen talking
about and one thing that was just brought to my mind,
as with all small towns, they do have a homecoming,
Do they stil1?

No, no that's been done away with.
Why?
Lack of interest and lack of money.

What was the homecoming like then? How many vears
did they have 1t? When was the last year then for it?
Do you remember?

It must have been about four or five years ago, I
would say, since the last one. And T really think
it's because ripht now, I would say, most of the
people living here now aren't really originally from
here. Tt's more of a new town, so to speak, Just
lack of interest I think even more than lack of money
is the reason for it.

Were you involved in the homecomings when they did
have it?

Not wvery much, no.
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What was the homecoming? What aid they do?

They usually had a big meal. Everybody got together

at homecoming and had a big meal and they had a dance

then afterwards and a parade in the morning. They
used to have a parade and they gave out gooly prizes
for newest ones married and there was babies and all
this sort of thineg. It was really a hometown thing
and I thihk that's why it has been done away with

20

because there's not that many people from it to really

actually have a Mecca homecoming now. They used to
have a Mecca Homecoming, but it's just lack of in-
terest of it.

Did all the communities arocund here have a homecoming?

Yes, they used to.
Are there any that still carry on?

Most of them do, yes, like CGreene still has one;
Johnson has one. TI'd say we're probably one of the
few that doesn't have that. Thereé aren't that many
people that have been here in Mecca that long.

I've been reading a lot of things. Mecca Circle, I
know, has been trying to pet a committee together to
stop some of the things that are going on and at one
time,ithe Circle was just beautiful. It was a park.
People could come here, have their lunch, have a
picnic, that type of thing, and it's not quite used
like that today. Do you have any thoughts about
that? Did you go down there whenrn you were a kid, to
the Circle or to the park as it was called?

No, I didn't. Well, later on we did, but never to
hang around there we didn't, Of course, I was from
the other side of the lake. (Laughter)

Right.
No, there used to be a little restaurant down there

when T was & kid, the Circle Inn it was called and
that was more or less where kids at that time, we

would meet. Like basketball games and so forth, whv,

the ones on the Fast side of the lake, this is where
they would go to catch the bus to go to the basket-
ball game, and we would catch it on the other side,
at the store, to catch the bus for the games and so
forth. And it was a big thing. If we won the game,
we'd come back to the Circle Inn to get our milk-
shakes and things like that. T mean, it was more or
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less the hang-out for the kids then.

You said there was the Circle Inn. What else was
there around that circle? The grocery store wasn't
bullt until

No, 1t's changed ouite a bit. There used to be a
garage and a gas station on the Circle, The one small
tavern that's still there has been there for years.
Another big building there was a store building for
years and years £il11 now it's a tavern. T understand
that originaliy at one time when 1t wss bullt, it was
a roller rink. Of course, that was way before my
time. TIt's always been a store there since I remem—
ber. And then, there used to be, on that one corner,
let's see, there's always been taverns there. There
was another tavern down there at one time. And dating
way back, well, I can remember the building there that
used to be a livery stable. I can remember that
building when they tore that down. Tt has chanpged
quite a bhit.

Right.
It has always been a place of activity though,

Are you bothered by all the busy people coming in?
I know I'1l1 go by there right now and it will just
be packed, motorcycleg and .

Yes, It upsets me.
Does 1t°?

I kind of avoid it, I guess. Of course, I'm far
enough away from it that I'm not down there that much,
but I came through and have been down there at times
when it was Just wall to wall with kids down there.

Oh boy, you know that, right.

some nights, even like during the summer, motorcycles
going by there going down and vou just wonder whether
they're going to end or not. Of course, again, the
lake attracts a lot of that and a lot of them come
here.

Do you think they can do anything about that? There's
no constable or police force here in Mecca right now.

No, there isn't. It's all in the sheriff's depart-
ment and I feel that the sheriff does as much as he
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can do. And until, really, the people want something
done, there won't be anything changed. ILike they've
started now, trying to push thines, I don't know. I
still feel that kids will go the right way il they're
led right, I think,

1 kind of have a saying, I mean, you hear so much
about youth today and everything. I think today the
only difference between when we were kids is today
they do the things that we thought we'd like to do.
Now teday fthey do it and I think that's about the
way 1t was. Of course, as T said earlier, this is
Jjust about the same Philosophy, I think, my father
had. T think we all go through a stage like that.

H: Sure.

Have there ever been policemen or a constable in
this area?

5:  Yes, we used to have a constable and a Justice-of-
the peace; they both used to be here.

H: And they're no longer here?
S5: No,
H: What happened?

5+ Again, lack of money and lack of interest, not finding
anyone that would take the job, not being able to pay
him anything to have the job, At one time, Tike T
say, there used to be a constable and justice-of-the-
peace both. In fact, our home here, the third justice-
of-the-peace that Meccs ever had used to live here.

H: Really?

51 So, at one time I think they must have had a real
good organization.,

H: Do you remember any hames of people who were the
constables? Who were the people?

5:  The last one 1 ecan recall would be Chet Tominson.
He was the constable at one time. I rememember at
one time he had a family that he had to~-they hadn't
been paying their rent and so forth and he bhad to set
their furniture and stuff out. T think that was the
last thing he did and that was the end of the Jjob for
him.
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H: About when was thatl, approximately?

5°*  Ch, that would have been back in, probably in the
late 1940's, I would say.

H: You said that we had justice-of-the-peace here and
there was one here--what do you mean "here?! This
was his house that he uged to conduct his affairs?

S5: That's the way I understand it. Well, it was his
home:; he lived here.

H: Who was that person?
S+ I don't know what his name was.

H: Well then, how did you acguire this house? Did vou
Just buy 1t off of him?

3: Oh no, This was way back that I'm talking about
now, when the township was first started. From the
history that I've read that other places have collected,
that's what I understand: he lived here.

H: T see. Then how did you get hisg house? Who did you
buy it off of?

S5t Oh, I bought it off of Chittle; CGeorge Chittle was
his name. He was only here a few years. A man by
the name of Tke Cole owned it belfore him, This
was his home; I think lke grew up here.

H: TIs there any history that goes with this house. Have
you had to do a lot to the house? How long has this
bullding been here?

S: I really don't know how long it has been here, It
evidently has been here a long time., JTt's got hand
hewnn beams in it in the basement and so forth and a
rock foundation.

Oh yes, I was told another thing. In myv barn I have

a shallow well, a spring like, and I was told that i
the water to make the concrete between Mecca and John-
son came from that well. That's as much as T really
know about the place,

H: How many acres does this sit on?

S:  Right now just ninteen, but originally it was a lot
bigger.
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How much~-if you don't mind me asking--how much did
you pay for all of this in a very nice setting ang ,

Well, when I bought this in 1954 or 1953, we bought
it-~that was thirty acres at the time--for $10,500,

That was a nice prilce, boy, you can- sell it and get
some good money today.

There's quite a big difference since then,

Yes,

Golng back to your parent's home, do you keep that
up or ycu sold that to other peonle?

That was sold and here about four years ago it burned.
The barn get blown almost over and they went ahead
and tore 1t down. There's no original buildines

there anymore, but people by the name of Andersons
live there now,

Are you happy to see the changes that Mecca is going
through today? Let's face it, as you said earlier,
the people here today are not the original Mecca
people and just leook right around you, right across
the street, brand new homes, are you happy to see
that? Do you like seeing thils community grow? Ang
it 1s, my goodness.

Well, there's no way of stopping it.

Right, there isn't.

I don't mind the community growing, but I'm not

happy about it. TIT'm not excited about it. In fact,

I keep telling my family: "You might ag well move to
the city."

Yes, you're right,

On the east side of my property now, there's probably,
oh, there must be about seven or eight properties

come back a short distance., But it's growing; there's
no doubt about it and it's going to continue to grow.

Why do you think it is?

Oh, everybody wants to come out from the cities and
it's the only land available.

It's easy to get back and forth,
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Yes, it's a good location.

The people that come out here, arc they farming or
they Just live in the area?

Ne, they just want to be in the area. Yes, they
want the atmosphere.

Are there still a lot of farmers here?
No, you could probably count them on one hand.
Can you name any that are still inte agriculture?

Actually, just farming probably would be Joe Tl.etwen,
Joe Zerovich and Earl Knight are really the only
full-time farmers that I know and one on the west
side of the lake, Mr. Passell, but he's more or less
seml-retired now. Well, let's sece, there's one

other one, Karl Knight. That's the only ones that
off-hand I can think of that their total income would
be from farming. And it used to be, I mean, every
other place was a farmer.

But that change all came about with the lake. Of
course, in this area, a lot of it came with the Second
World War. People found out they could work in the
shop and make easier money and still live out here.
S0, that did a lot too 1n this area as far as the manu-
facturing area that it is now. 1In fact, when I worked
for U.5. Gypsum, the superintendent told me they

liked to hire people from out this way. They got
their better workers from this way, from there-north
than they did from there-south, I think it all goes
back a lot to that. He said, "Those people knew how
to work when they came in."

Sure.

They're quite a few out here now, like myself, that
work in town but st1117 like to farm too and do both.

Isn't that tough? Isn't that hard to do? Where do
you get the time?

Yes, you never get caught up. (Laughter) Like my
lawn hasn't been mowed yet, but things like that; it
seems like you never get caught up. It has been gcood
theugh., I think it has been good for the family
growing up out here as far as that goes.

Would you want your kids to carry on what vou have
started? Or have they, the two that aren't living here?
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No, well, I guess you might say they have. Neither
one of them went too far, They both got married.

My son just moved to Johnson and he and his wifle,

I think they more or less wanted in the Nanlewood
School area. That was really, I think, part of
thelr reason. And he is doing practically exactly
the same thing I am, working in 2 plant and he's
got a few acres, My daughter and her husband, her
husband was originally from Mecca too,

What's his last name?

Bower, Fugene Bower, and they live in Vernon angd
they are doing the same thine. (Laughter) He's
working in a plant and they do quite a bit of farming.

Would you like to see Tina do the same thing?

I feel they have to live their own lives the way
they want to, Whatever they want to do, why, that's
what I want them to do,

That's good.

I don't think I'd ever tell them, "You shouid do
this or you should do that." We never have. We try
to suggest when they ask questions, outside of that,
whatever she decides she wants to do, we'll help her
in that direction,

Do you belong to any-~I don't know if you'd have
time--do you belong to any organizations? You men-
tioned earlier your church just bought some land.
Do you have time for that?

I don't know where all the time comes from. (Laughter)
At one time, when T was working at Van Huffel, I also
did sub-contracting plus the farm and I was flying

at that time so I was really busy. But right now,
actually, church work is the only organization as

far as I work with at all.

The name of the church is?

Mecca Community Church, which I am an elder in at
this time. T was in the fire department, which T

am now retired from, sc to speak. TIn fact, T was on
the original, at the beginning of the Mecca Fire
Department. I wanted tc help get it started.

When was that? Let's look at the fire department.
You wanted to get that started, that's why you became
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S: Right, well there was a group of us, we saw a need
for it. We really needed a fire department out here.

H: What year was this, about?

3: This was in 1959, well, in 1958 it was in the talk
session. In 1959 actmally, T think was when we first
got our charter and became a fire department. Just
like everything else, it kind of originated by a
group of guys talking :at the garage. "We should get
this going," and so we went to meetings with different
other departments around te find out what we had to do:
to get started and we started out by buying an old
truck and built it up till it could be used and then
got a levy bond issue put on to buy a new truck so
it would be what the State required in a department.

It has been a real good department.

I''m retired now, but I still have a keen eve on it all
the time. We set up a thing where after fifteen years
you could leave the department if you wanted to, but
if you wanted to go back you would be first on the
list to g0 hack.

H: Now, 1is this strictly all volunteer?

3: Yes, this is all volunteer. But the reason we did
that was because we had such a walting list of people
wanting on and so, we wanted to keep the younger men
coming on all the time so the ones that wanted %o
leave, why, could leave.

H: Did you go through any trainine to become a fireman?
Where did you go?

S: Oh yes, there are State requirements that we had to
have, A lot of ftraining instructors came right out
here for us and we got our instructions right here
with our own equipment, ' P

We had several big fires. Probably our worst one
anytime in this part of the community was when we
had the Iire at the schoolhouse, at Maplewood High
School. That was probably the worst one.

H+ I had heard about that. How was that started? Were
they able to determine how that blarze was started?

S:  Not to my knowledge or I don't recall at this time
what 1t was, but it was hot. (Laughter)
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H: I'm sure of that.
Now, the lire department today, is it still volunteer?

$: Oh yes, it's still volunteer, so it's just the same
as 1t always was, volunteer fire department,

H: Are they involved in community activities a lot?

St Quite a bit, I would say, as far as community ac-
tivity, it would be the church, school, ard fire
department, That's where everything happens in Mecca,
I mean, one of the three and that's it. The fire
department is very active as far as community work.

H: You just saild the church i1s an active part of the
community. You're an elder in the church. What
exactly is that? What do you do? Are you elected
to this position?

5t Well, not really elected, it's just kind of a thing
that comes about naturally, I guess you would say.
People of the body, the church body, more or less
someone usually comes into leadership. Not really
voted on or anything, certain people kind of start
looking for leadership to. Actually, I guess you o
would say our job 1s really the spiritual needs of
the people along with the pastor. We're more or
less his helpers and kind of a--you mipht say--~watch
dog to see that we don't get somebody way off in
left field involved or something like this.

H: How long will you ramain an elder?

S: Really, there's no set time as far as our church
sets up; there's no set time. Once a year we review
it,

H: Does this church have a big congregation? Is it
growing because the community is growing?

S: No, 1t's growing, yes, but it's not a big church, no,
but we expect it to grow more,i that's why we purchased
property to build,.

H: The original church is . ., ?

S: Down by the Cirele.

H: And now they are going to start bullding this?

5: Yes, in the future. How soon, T don't know.
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You don't know yet. Who is the pastor there?

Charles Kindell.
Has he been there for quite some time?

He's been there now for, I think this is going on
his seventh or elighth year.

Who were some othér pastors that served? Do you
know?

Oh, there was Reverend Hood was there. We had a man
by the name of Thomas. There's been quite a few

over here. There was a Thomas. The churches went
through quite a change. At one time, it was The
United Church of Christ, which we've withdrawn from,

It now is a non-denominational church in the community.
We're connected, but no denomination whatsoever.
Through this we draw quite a few people.

What kind of things does thig church do for the
community?

Right now we Just try to meet the needs of the peonle.

It's just sort of there for people who need it and
they know that they can come there if they are in
need of something whether it's spiritual or . ., ?

Right. Of course, the pastor tries to work with
the school. 1In fact, T think they still have a meeting
with the superintendent.

Oh, is that right? That's good.

Not just the superintendent here. I think the one in
Bristol 1s involved. Several superintendents and
ministers of the area meet and try. And they have a
thing set up that you're probably aware of, at school,
if theére's kids that need someone to talk to or
something, there's someone available if they need
them,

That's good. You need that. You need more of it
in fact.

Yes. It's kind of a beginning thing really, There
again, we run into the problem of, you mipght say,
being a new community, S0 many new people.

Sure, that's true.
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Is there anything else that you think is important
that you can add to what we're talking about in
Mecca that we haven't covered? Do you have anything
that would be worth mentioning that you would like
to mention?

Not a thing. We've covered it.prettylwell, I ithink.
Yes, I think so too.

T don't think there's anything.

One of the last things that I do like to ask the
people: Is there anybody else vou know that could

help us with this project?

No, I think the 1list you had was real good. That
was a real good list of people.

Good. Well, I want to thank you for spending this
hour with me. I found it very enjoyable and you've
told me a lot that T had never known before and you've
really helped us a lct, We're putting Mecca on the
map. (Laughter)

Very good,

50, thank you very much,

You're welcome,

END OF INTERVIEW



	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	
	

